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 BEFORE THE THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

SALT LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF UTAH 
 
 
 
ELSA KARINA PALACIOS, as the personal 
representative of the ESTATE OF 
BERNARDO PALACIOS CARBAJAL, 
 
             Plaintiff, 
vs. 
  
SALT LAKE CITY POLICE 
DEPARTMENT; OFFICER KEVIN 
FORTUNA, in an individual and official 
capacity; OFFICER NEIL IVERSEN, in an 
individual and official capacity; CHIEF 
MIKE BROWN, in an official capacity as 
police chief of the Salt Lake City Police 
Department; SALT LAKE CITY 
CORPORATION; and DOE DEFENDANTS 
1 THROUGH 10.  
 

Defendants. 

 
 
 
 

COMPLAINT  
AND 

JURY DEMAND 
 

Civil No. ___________________ 
 

Judge _____________________ 
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Plaintiff, by and through their counsel, hereby complains of defendants and alleges as 

follows: 

 PARTIES AND JURISDICTION 

1. Elsa Karina Palacios is a resident of Salt Lake City, Utah, and has been duly 

appointed the personal representative of the Estate of Bernardo Palacios Carbajal 

(“Mr. Palacios”). 

2. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Salt Lake City Police Department 

(“SLCPD”) was a political subdivision or arm of Salt Lake City Corporation, 

located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah.    

3. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Kevin Fortuna (“Officer Fortuna”) was 

believed to be an employee of Defendant Salt Lake City Corporation and an 

officer of Defendant Salt Lake City Police Department (“SLCPD”).  

4. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Neil Iversen (“Officer Iversen”) was 

believed to be an employee of Defendant Salt Lake City Corporation and an 

officer of the Defendant SLCPD.  Collectively, Officer Fortuna and Officer 

Fortuna are referred to herein as “Defendant Officers.”   

5. At all times relevant hereto, defendant Mike Brown (“Chief Brown” or 

“Defendant Brown) was an employee of the Salt Lake City Corporation and was 

acting as Chief of Police of the SLCPD. 
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6. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Salt Lake City Corporation (“Salt Lake 

City”) was a political subdivision of the State of Utah, as defined by U.C.A. § 

63-30d-102(4)(a)(7), which employed the Defendant Officers through the SLCPD.  

7. Doe Defendants 1 through 10, are employees or representatives of the 

aforementioned Defendants who may have had involvement in the acts and 

omissions complained of herein, the names of whom are currently unknown.  

Unless otherwise stated, the allegations contained in this Complaint apply to the 

Doe Defendants even if they are not specifically named therein.   

8. This action is brought for damages and other appropriate relief under 42 U.S.C.A. 

§ 1983 for violation of Mr. Palacios’ federal civil rights by the defendants, and 

therefore Plaintiffs’ civil rights, including Amendments 4 and 14 of the 

Constitution of the United States, whose actions were taken under color of state 

law. 

9. This actions is also brought for damages and other appropriate relief under Art. I § 

14 of the Utah Constitution which prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures  

10. Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by Utah Code Ann. § 78A-5-102 and 

Art. VIII § 7 of the Utah Constitution. 

11. Venue is appropriate in this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-307.  

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 
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12. On May 23, 2020, at or about 2:00 a.m. at approximately 900 South and 300 

West, Salt Lake City, Utah, Mr. Palacios was shot over 25 times by SLCPD 

officers acting under color of law.   

13. At approximately 2:00 a.m., Officer Iversen and Officer Fortuna, including 

various other officers, were pursuing “a Hispanic male” after receiving a dispatch 

of activities that allegedly occurred in the area.   

14. Officer Iversen and another SLCPD Officer Kilgore had encountered Mr. Palacios 

in a nearby parking lot and, believing he “matched the description,” shined their 

flashlight and stated “show me your hands,” whereupon Mr. Palacios began to 

run. 

15. Neither officer identified themselves as law enforcement officers nor did they 

state that they were with the SLCPD. 

16. As Mr. Palacios began to run, SLCPD Sergeant Schneider arrived on scene and 

saw Mr. Palacios run past him.  Sergeant Schneider exited his vehicle, yelled 

“drop it,” and began pursuit on foot. 

17. Sgt. Schneider’s vehicle did not have active lights or sirens nor did he identify 

himself as a law enforcement officer.   

18. During the pursuit, Sgt. Schneider called out on the police radio that the man had 

something in his pocket.  Although Sgt. Schneider was behind Officer Iversen, 

just seconds later he called out on the radio that the man had a gun in his pocket 
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and was reaching in his waistband.  Upon information and belief, the other 

SLCPD officers in the area were able to hear Sergeant Schneider’s radio activity. 

19. Approximately 45 seconds after the pursuit began, Mr. Palacios crossed 900 

South and entered the south parking lot of Granary Storage located at 900 South 

and 300 West. 

20. After arriving at the parking lot, Mr. Palacios fell and stood up three separate 

times in the span of 13 seconds, while the Officers stood behind him 

approximately 10 to 15 feet away.     

21. Just prior to the third fall, Officer Fortuna arrived on scene in his police vehicle 

and then exited holding his gun and yelled “drop it.” 

22. At no time prior to the shooting did Mr. Palacios make any threatening gestures 

toward the police officers nor did he point a weapon at the officers. 

23. Sgt. Schneider (who had been in pursuit and had previously called out on radio 

that Mr. Palacios had a gun) ordered Officer Fortuna and Officer Iversen to “Taze 

him, taze him, taze him.”  The Defendant Officers were only 10 to 15 feet away 

from Sgt. Schneider when he yelled out his orders. 

24. When Sgt. Schneider ordered Defendant Officers to “taze him” the officers were 

standing stationary with guns drawn approximately 10 feet away from Mr. 

Palacios.   
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25. Instead of following orders from Sgt. Schneider to “taze him,” Officer Fortuna 

began firing his gun into the back of Mr. Palacios just seven seconds after exiting 

his vehicle. 

26. Officer Iversen also began shooting Mr. Palacios in the back. 

27. The Defendant Officers fired 6 to 8 bullets before Mr. Palacios fell to the ground 

with his back to the Defendant Officers. 

28. When Mr. Palacios fell to the ground after being shot, there were a total of 4 

SLCPD officers surrounding him.   

29. When Mr. Palacios fell to the ground after being shot, the Officers were close 

enough to ascertain that he no longer presented a threat of escape. 

30. The Defendant Officers however, continued to shoot Mr. Palacios as he laid on 

the ground.   

31. After the Defendant Officers had been firing for approximately 4 seconds, Sgt. 

Schneider yelled to the Officers: “Hey, hey, hey, hey, hold [inaudible].”   

32. Upon information and belief, Sgt. Schneider was telling the Defendant Officers to 

stop shooting, but the Defendant Officers continued to fire their weapons into 

Palacios as he lay defenseless on the ground.   

33. The Defendant Officers continued to fire their weapons for an additional 5 

seconds after Sgt. Schneider began yelling at them, with Officer Iversen 

completely emptying his 17-round weapon (a Glock 17) and Officer Fortuna 

completely emptying his 17-round weapon (a Glock 17).  
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34. The Defendant Officers fired 34 total rounds at Mr. Palacios, with between 27 to 

29 bullets being fired after he was on the ground.   

35. The separate body cam videos show that both shooting officers re-loaded their 

weapon with another magazine of bullets after the shooting had finally stopped. 

36. Post-mortem reports show 25 gunshot wounds to Mr. Palacios, with a majority of 

those bullets demonstrating an “upward trajectory,” suggesting that the bullets 

struck Mr. Palacios while he was on the ground. 

37. The post-mortem reports document gunshot wounds to Mr. Palacio’s right side of 

back, left side of back, lower back, left hip, right buttock, left buttock, right hip, 

the back of the lower right leg, the left hand, the right hand, the abdomen, the left 

lower extremity, and the lateral right side of the chest.   

38. After shooting at Mr. Palacios 34 times, Officer Fortuna demanded that Mr. 

Palacios “show us your fucking hands” while he continued to point his now 

re-loaded weapon at Mr. Palacios.   

39. Subsequent briefings by the police confirmed that “officers rendered medical aid 

until EMS arrived.”        

40. Mr. Palacios died as a result of his gunshot wounds.  He was 22 years old at the 

time of his death.  

41. Mr. Palacios’ shirtless body was observed by the motoring public at 9 a.m. the 

same morning at the same location where he was shot (approximately 7 hours 

after the shooting).    
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42. Defendants’ acts and omissions directly and proximately caused Mr. Palacios and 

Plaintiff’s damages and injuries, including physical injuries, physical pain and 

suffering, mental and emotional anguish, death, and the resulting loss of 

association, comfort companionship and support, and other compensatory 

damages.   

43. Plaintiff seeks punitive damages as a result of Defendants’ acts and omissions.   

44. Plaintiff seeks allowable costs, interest, and attorneys’ fees as a result of 

Defendants’ acts and omissions. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

(Defendants Iversen and Fortuna and Does 1-10 – Violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983)  
(Initial Use of Excessive Force) 

 
45. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

46. At all times relevant hereto, the Defendant Officers acted under color of state law, 

ordinance, custom, practice, and/or usage, and within the scope of their 

employment by defendant Salt Lake City Corporation. 

47. In attempting to arrest and detain Mr. Palacios, who was fleeing and who did not 

present an immediate danger or threat to the officers or others, Defendant Officers 

used force that was not reasonable under the circumstances, in violation of Mr. 

Palacios’ established constitutional rights. 

48. At 2:00 a.m. on virtually empty streets, the Defendant Officers knew or should 

have known that there was little to no risk of injury or harm to the general public.  
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49. Rather than utilize other less-deadly means of detaining Mr. Palacios, including 

the use of a Taser as was ordered by Sgt. Schneider, the Defendant Officers 

defaulted to their pistols to effect deadly force, in violation of Mr. Palacios’ 

established constitutional rights.   

50. Once they began firing their guns at Mr. Palacios, the Defendant Officers did not 

intend to bring Mr. Palacios into custody alive.   

51. Defendant Officers’ initiation of lethal and deadly force against Mr. Palacios was 

unreasonable, excessive and unnecessary and violated his clearly established right 

to be free from unreasonable seizures under the Fourth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution and his due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution.   

52. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from and against 

defendants all damages sustained by the Plaintiff and Mr. Palacios as a direct and 

proximate result of defendants’ violation of Mr. Palacios’ constitutional rights, 

including, without limitation, the damages described herein and attorneys’ fees. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

(Defendants Iversen and Fortuna and Does 1-10 – Violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983)  
(Continued Use of Excessive Force) 

 
53. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 
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54. The Defendant Officers further violated Mr. Palacios’ clearly established rights by 

continuing to use deadly force after Mr. Palacios had fallen to the ground as a 

result of his gunshots wounds inflicted by the Defendant Officers.   

55. The Defendant Officers knew or should have known that after disabling and 

subduing Mr. Palacios with the initial bullets, he was rendered physically 

incapable of violence and he no longer posed a threat of escape to the officers. 

56. In fact, as the Defendant Officers continued to use lethal force after Mr. Palacios 

was disabled and on the ground, Sgt. Schneider directed to the officers to stop 

shooting but they disregarded his order, and continued to shoot for an additional 5 

seconds.  

57. Post-mortem testing and reports concluded that a majority of the bullets that 

penetrated Mr. Palacios’ body demonstrated a “back to front” and “upward 

trajectory,” which is indicative of shooting at Mr. Palacios while he was on the 

ground.   

58. Video shows Mr. Palacios raising his head to look at the Defendant Officers while 

they were shooting him while on the ground. 

59. Because of the Defendant Officers’ 9-seconds of shooting, unleashing 34 bullets, 

the officers were unable to ascertain or hear Mr. Palacios’ words or pleas as he 

was being shot.  

60. In fact, the body cam(s) of the officers demonstrate that Mr. Palacios said 

“Officer, I don’t want to die,” just before being fired upon.    
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61. The Defendant Officers’ acts of shooting Mr. Palacios when he did not pose a 

threat of escape and when he was rendered incapable of violence, were 

intentional, willful, wanton, obdurate, and in gross and reckless disregard of Mr. 

Palacios’ clearly established rights, and were taken with deliberate indifference to 

his rights.  

62. Previous to Mr. Palacios’ death, the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth 

Circuit had held that continuing to use lethal force on a suspect who does not pose 

an immediate threat to an officer or the public is “unlawful” and a violation of 

“clearly established law.”  See Fancher v. Barrientos, 723 F.3d 1191, 1201 (10th 

Cir. 2013) (emphasis added). 

63. In 2016, the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals stated that “it is likewise clearly 

established that officers may not continue to use force against a suspect 

who is effectively subdued.”  See Parea v. Baca, 817 F.3d 1198, 1204 (10th Cir. 

2016) (citing Fancher v. Barrientos, supra) (emphasis added). 

64. In 2018, the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals explained that the Fourth Amendment 

“prohibits the use of force without legitimate justification, as when a subject 

poses no threat or has been subdued.”  See McCoy v. Meyers, 887 F.3d 1034, 

1052 (10th Cir. 2018) (emphasis added). 

65. Even more recently, just 3 months before Mr. Palacios’ death, the 10th Circuit 

Court of Appeals held on February 26, 2020 that “it is ... clearly established that 

officers may not continue to use force against a suspect who is effectively 
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subdued.”  Estate of Smart by Smart v. City of Wichita, 951 F.3d 1161, 1176 

(10th Cir. 2020) (emphasis added). 

66. Numerous other courts from numerous other jurisdictions have held, prior to Mr. 

Palacios’ death, that an officers’ use of lethal/deadly force against a 

disabled/subdued suspect can be a violation of the suspect’s clearly established 

constitutional rights against excessive force. 

67. By repeatedly shooting Mr. Palacios between 27 to 29 times after he was on the 

ground and incapacitated, the Defendant Officers engaged in gratuitous violence 

in violation of his rights to be free from excessive force.  

68. Defendants’ continued use of force after Mr. Palacios had been shot to the ground 

violated clearly established law and directly and proximately caused Mr. Palacios’ 

death. 

69. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover from and against 

defendants all damages sustained by the Plaintiffs and Mr. Palacios as a direct and 

proximate result of defendants’ violation of Mr. Palacios’ constitutional rights, 

including, without limitation, the damages described herein and attorneys’ fees. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

(Defendant Salt Lake City Police Department, Defendant Brown and Defendant Salt Lake City 
Corporation, and Doe Defendants 1 - 10 – Violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983) 

 
70. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 
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71. Defendant SLCPD, Defendant Brown and/or Defendant Salt Lake City have a 

duty to train and instruct officers and employees regarding acceptable policing 

practices and procedures, including being aware of and apprising officers of 

updates, changes, or other requirements relating to the use of deadly force on a 

fleeing suspect.  

72. Defendants failed to instruct and train its officers that suspects have a clearly 

established right to be free from lethal force once the suspect has been subdued or 

incapacitated.   

73. Defendants failed to address the aforementioned case law (see paragraphs 62 to 

66) to ensure that its officers were instructed and trained and/or retrained 

regarding a suspect’s right to be free from excessive use of lethal force, including 

excessive force once any threat has been subdued or incapacitated.   

74. In fact, despite the aforementioned case law prohibiting the use of force after a 

suspect has been subdued (see paragraphs 62 to 66), during a June 5, 2020 Officer 

Involved Critical Incident Press Conference, Chief Brown made a public comment 

as follows: “I trust our training.  I trust in the investigative process that we have 

in place to address officer involved critical incidents.  Most importantly, I trust 

our officers.  I love the women and men of the Salt Lake City Police Department 

and I stand behind them.”  (Emphasis added).   
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75. In the face of the facts alleged in this Complaint, Chief Brown’s comments, as 

Police Chief and policy maker of the SLCPD, constitute an approval and 

ratification of the unlawful activities of the officers. 

76. On information and belief, prior to and during the investigative process, Chief 

Brown and other SLCPD policy makers have acted in ways that are inconsistent 

with ensuring that citizens remain free from gratuitous violence and excessive 

force, and have instead ratified and enabled unlawful behavior by officers of the 

SLCPD.   

77. Chief Brown’s comments supporting the officers’ actions were subsequently 

contradicted during the June 5, 2020 Press Conference, when the Mayor of Salt 

Lake City stated that “what I saw in the video is genuinely disturbing and 

upsetting.”   

78. Defendant Brown’s support for the shooting was also contradicted by City 

Councilwoman Amy Fowler who admitted that Mr. Palacios was “unlawfully 

killed and I am outraged.”   

79. Defendant Brown’s comments confirm a lack of understanding by him, and a lack 

of training and enforcement of officers, relating to rights possessed by suspects to 

be free from the use of excessive lethal force. 

80. Defendants failed to properly instruct, train and re-train its police officers on the 

proper use of firearms, including standard policies and practices that instruct 
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officers to “shoot twice and reassess.”  Contrary to this directive, the Defendant 

Officers actions in shooting 34 times demonstrates an intention to “shoot to kill.” 

81. On information and belief, Defendants failed to train its police officers on such 

fundamentals as de-escalation training, proper use of a lethal firearm to apprehend 

a fleeing suspect, and the choice between use of lethal weapons versus the use of 

more conservative modes of apprehending and subduing a fleeing suspect. 

82. Based on the body cam videos of the Defendant Officers, and Chief Brown’s 

subsequent support of the officers’ actions, Defendants had authorized, 

encouraged, or otherwise permitted its officers to shoot until the fleeing suspect is 

dead. 

83. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately investigate, discipline 

and/or otherwise address previous shooting incidents by SLCPD officers, thereby 

causing and contributing to the officers’ unlawful shooting of Mr. Palacios.  

84. On information and belief, Defendants encouraged, developed, pursued, or 

permitted policies, practices, and customs, either formal or informal, which 

caused and permitted police officers to use unreasonable and unnecessary force in 

apprehending suspects.  Such conduct includes, but is not limited to, establishing 

a policy or practice of protecting police officers who violate the constitutional 

rights of individuals by failing to discipline, reprimand, teach, or discharge police 

officers. 
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85. Upon information and belief, such conduct by Defendants permitted, encouraged, 

and caused the Defendant Officers to act as described above with knowledge, 

understanding, or belief that their conduct would not cause them to be 

reprimanded, disciplined, or discharged.  

86. Upon information and belief, Defendants have knowingly and intentionally failed 

to adequately hire, train, educate, monitor, and/or supervise, or has been 

deliberately indifferent, reckless, or grossly negligent in hiring, training, 

educating, monitoring, and/or supervising, its police officers, including, without 

limitation, Defendant Officers. 

87. The above-described misconduct by Defendants caused Mr. Palacios to be 

subjected to violations of clearly established constitutional rights under the Fourth 

and/or Fourteenth Amendment(s) to the United States Constitution, and has 

encouraged other police officers to engage in similar violation of constitutional 

rights. 

88. The above-described misconduct of Chief Brown and/or Defendant Salt Lake 

City, directly and proximately caused Mr. Palacios’ death. 

89. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from and against 

Defendants all damages sustained by Plaintiff and Mr. Palacios as a direct and 

proximate result of Defendant Brown’s and/or Defendant Salt Lake City’s 

violation of Mr. Palacios’ constitutional rights, including, without limitation, the 

damages described herein and attorneys’ fees. 
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(All Defendants – Violation of Art. I § 14 of the Utah Constitution) 

 
90. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

91. For the reasons set forth above, Defendants have also violated Mr. Palacios’ rights 

to be free from excessive force and unreasonable searches and seizures as those 

rights are guaranteed by Article I, Sections 4 and 14 of the Utah Constitution.   

92. Defendant Officers’ initial use of force and continued use of force after Mr. 

Palacios had been shot to the ground (as set forth in the First and Second Causes 

of Action) violated his established rights under the Utah Constitution and directly 

and proximately caused Mr. Palacios’ death. 

93. Defendant Brown and Defendant Salt Lake City actions, omissions and 

ratifications (as set forth in the Third Cause of Action) violated his established 

rights under the Utah Constitution and directly and proximately caused Mr. 

Palacios’ death.  

94. Plaintiff is entitled to recover from and against Defendants all damages sustained 

by Plaintiff and Mr. Palacios as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ 

violations of Mr. Palacios’ rights under the Utah Constitution, including, without 

limitation, the damages described herein and attorneys’ fees. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(All Defendants – Violation of Art. I § 9 of the Utah Constitution) 
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95. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

96. For the reasons set forth above, Defendants have also violated Mr. Palacios’ rights 

to be free from unnecessary rigor as that right is guaranteed by Article I, Section 9 

of the Utah Constitution.  

97. Defendants actions of shooting Mr. Palacios after he was effectively imprisoned 

and violated Mr. Palacios’ constitutional rights and subjected him to needlessly 

harsh, degrading, and dehumanizing treatment at the hands of the Defendant 

Officders.   

98. Defendants knowingly and intentionally violated Mr. Palacios’s constitutional 

rights by subjecting him to unjustified shootings and leaving him on the ground 

for over 7 hours without a shirt and other items of clothing.   

99. At all times, the Defendant Officers acted under color of their authority as police 

officers of the SLCPD when they deprived Mr. Palacios of his rights to be free 

from unnecessary rigor under Article I section 9 of the Utah Constitution. 

100. As a result of Defendants’ violations of Mr. Palacios’ rights under Utah’s 

Constitution, Mr. Palacios and his family sustained physical, mental and 

emotional injuries. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as follows: 

1. For economic damages in an amount to be determined at trial; 



 
 19 

2. For non-economic damages in an amount to be determined at trial; 

3. For consequential and other compensatory damages in an amount to be 

determined at trial; 

4. For punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial; 

5. For an award of attorney’s fees and costs incurred herein pursuant to 42 

U.S.C.A. § 1988, or as otherwise provided by law; and 

6. For such other and further relief as the Court deems proper, including, without 

limitation, pre- and post-judgment interest. 

TIER DESIGNATION 
 
Pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 8(a) and 26(c)(3), this matter falls under Tier 3 

and should be permitted discovery pursuant to Tier 3. 

DEMAND FOR JURY 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all claims. 

Dated this _____ day of September, 2020. 

 
EISENBERG CUTT KENDELL & OLSON 

 
 

_____________________________ 
Nathan S. Morris, 

      Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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	35. The separate body cam videos show that both shooting officers re-loaded their weapon with another magazine of bullets after the shooting had finally stopped.
	36. Post-mortem reports show 25 gunshot wounds to Mr. Palacios, with a majority of those bullets demonstrating an “upward trajectory,” suggesting that the bullets struck Mr. Palacios while he was on the ground.
	37. The post-mortem reports document gunshot wounds to Mr. Palacio’s right side of back, left side of back, lower back, left hip, right buttock, left buttock, right hip, the back of the lower right leg, the left hand, the right hand, the abdomen, the ...
	38. After shooting at Mr. Palacios 34 times, Officer Fortuna demanded that Mr. Palacios “show us your fucking hands” while he continued to point his now re-loaded weapon at Mr. Palacios.
	39. Subsequent briefings by the police confirmed that “officers rendered medical aid until EMS arrived.”
	40. Mr. Palacios died as a result of his gunshot wounds.  He was 22 years old at the time of his death.
	41. Mr. Palacios’ shirtless body was observed by the motoring public at 9 a.m. the same morning at the same location where he was shot (approximately 7 hours after the shooting).
	42. Defendants’ acts and omissions directly and proximately caused Mr. Palacios and Plaintiff’s damages and injuries, including physical injuries, physical pain and suffering, mental and emotional anguish, death, and the resulting loss of association,...
	43. Plaintiff seeks punitive damages as a result of Defendants’ acts and omissions.
	44. Plaintiff seeks allowable costs, interest, and attorneys’ fees as a result of Defendants’ acts and omissions.
	45. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
	46. At all times relevant hereto, the Defendant Officers acted under color of state law, ordinance, custom, practice, and/or usage, and within the scope of their employment by defendant Salt Lake City Corporation.
	47. In attempting to arrest and detain Mr. Palacios, who was fleeing and who did not present an immediate danger or threat to the officers or others, Defendant Officers used force that was not reasonable under the circumstances, in violation of Mr. Pa...
	48. At 2:00 a.m. on virtually empty streets, the Defendant Officers knew or should have known that there was little to no risk of injury or harm to the general public.
	49. Rather than utilize other less-deadly means of detaining Mr. Palacios, including the use of a Taser as was ordered by Sgt. Schneider, the Defendant Officers defaulted to their pistols to effect deadly force, in violation of Mr. Palacios’ establish...
	50. Once they began firing their guns at Mr. Palacios, the Defendant Officers did not intend to bring Mr. Palacios into custody alive.
	51. Defendant Officers’ initiation of lethal and deadly force against Mr. Palacios was unreasonable, excessive and unnecessary and violated his clearly established right to be free from unreasonable seizures under the Fourth Amendment to the United St...
	52. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from and against defendants all damages sustained by the Plaintiff and Mr. Palacios as a direct and proximate result of defendants’ violation of Mr. Palacios’ constitutional rights, ...
	53. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
	54. The Defendant Officers further violated Mr. Palacios’ clearly established rights by continuing to use deadly force after Mr. Palacios had fallen to the ground as a result of his gunshots wounds inflicted by the Defendant Officers.
	55. The Defendant Officers knew or should have known that after disabling and subduing Mr. Palacios with the initial bullets, he was rendered physically incapable of violence and he no longer posed a threat of escape to the officers.
	56. In fact, as the Defendant Officers continued to use lethal force after Mr. Palacios was disabled and on the ground, Sgt. Schneider directed to the officers to stop shooting but they disregarded his order, and continued to shoot for an additional 5...
	57. Post-mortem testing and reports concluded that a majority of the bullets that penetrated Mr. Palacios’ body demonstrated a “back to front” and “upward trajectory,” which is indicative of shooting at Mr. Palacios while he was on the ground.
	58. Video shows Mr. Palacios raising his head to look at the Defendant Officers while they were shooting him while on the ground.
	59. Because of the Defendant Officers’ 9-seconds of shooting, unleashing 34 bullets, the officers were unable to ascertain or hear Mr. Palacios’ words or pleas as he was being shot.
	60. In fact, the body cam(s) of the officers demonstrate that Mr. Palacios said “Officer, I don’t want to die,” just before being fired upon.
	61. The Defendant Officers’ acts of shooting Mr. Palacios when he did not pose a threat of escape and when he was rendered incapable of violence, were intentional, willful, wanton, obdurate, and in gross and reckless disregard of Mr. Palacios’ clearly...
	62. Previous to Mr. Palacios’ death, the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit had held that continuing to use lethal force on a suspect who does not pose an immediate threat to an officer or the public is “unlawful” and a violation of ...
	63. In 2016, the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals stated that “it is likewise clearly established that officers may not continue to use force against a suspect
	who is effectively subdued.”  See Parea v. Baca, 817 F.3d 1198, 1204 (10th Cir. 2016) (citing Fancher v. Barrientos, supra) (emphasis added).
	64. In 2018, the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals explained that the Fourth Amendment “prohibits the use of force without legitimate justification, as when a subject poses no threat or has been subdued.”  See McCoy v. Meyers, 887 F.3d 1034, 1052 (10th Ci...
	65. Even more recently, just 3 months before Mr. Palacios’ death, the 10th Circuit Court of Appeals held on February 26, 2020 that “it is ... clearly established that officers may not continue to use force against a suspect who is effectively subdued....
	66. Numerous other courts from numerous other jurisdictions have held, prior to Mr. Palacios’ death, that an officers’ use of lethal/deadly force against a disabled/subdued suspect can be a violation of the suspect’s clearly established constitutional...
	67. By repeatedly shooting Mr. Palacios between 27 to 29 times after he was on the ground and incapacitated, the Defendant Officers engaged in gratuitous violence in violation of his rights to be free from excessive force.
	68. Defendants’ continued use of force after Mr. Palacios had been shot to the ground violated clearly established law and directly and proximately caused Mr. Palacios’ death.
	69. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover from and against defendants all damages sustained by the Plaintiffs and Mr. Palacios as a direct and proximate result of defendants’ violation of Mr. Palacios’ constitutional right...
	70. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
	71. Defendant SLCPD, Defendant Brown and/or Defendant Salt Lake City have a duty to train and instruct officers and employees regarding acceptable policing practices and procedures, including being aware of and apprising officers of updates, changes, ...
	72. Defendants failed to instruct and train its officers that suspects have a clearly established right to be free from lethal force once the suspect has been subdued or incapacitated.
	73. Defendants failed to address the aforementioned case law (see paragraphs 62 to 66) to ensure that its officers were instructed and trained and/or retrained regarding a suspect’s right to be free from excessive use of lethal force, including excess...
	74. In fact, despite the aforementioned case law prohibiting the use of force after a suspect has been subdued (see paragraphs 62 to 66), during a June 5, 2020 Officer Involved Critical Incident Press Conference, Chief Brown made a public comment as f...
	75. In the face of the facts alleged in this Complaint, Chief Brown’s comments, as Police Chief and policy maker of the SLCPD, constitute an approval and ratification of the unlawful activities of the officers.
	76. On information and belief, prior to and during the investigative process, Chief Brown and other SLCPD policy makers have acted in ways that are inconsistent with ensuring that citizens remain free from gratuitous violence and excessive force, and ...
	77. Chief Brown’s comments supporting the officers’ actions were subsequently contradicted during the June 5, 2020 Press Conference, when the Mayor of Salt Lake City stated that “what I saw in the video is genuinely disturbing and upsetting.”
	78. Defendant Brown’s support for the shooting was also contradicted by City Councilwoman Amy Fowler who admitted that Mr. Palacios was “unlawfully killed and I am outraged.”
	79. Defendant Brown’s comments confirm a lack of understanding by him, and a lack of training and enforcement of officers, relating to rights possessed by suspects to be free from the use of excessive lethal force.
	80. Defendants failed to properly instruct, train and re-train its police officers on the proper use of firearms, including standard policies and practices that instruct officers to “shoot twice and reassess.”  Contrary to this directive, the Defendan...
	81. On information and belief, Defendants failed to train its police officers on such fundamentals as de-escalation training, proper use of a lethal firearm to apprehend a fleeing suspect, and the choice between use of lethal weapons versus the use of...
	82. Based on the body cam videos of the Defendant Officers, and Chief Brown’s subsequent support of the officers’ actions, Defendants had authorized, encouraged, or otherwise permitted its officers to shoot until the fleeing suspect is dead.
	83. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately investigate, discipline and/or otherwise address previous shooting incidents by SLCPD officers, thereby causing and contributing to the officers’ unlawful shooting of Mr. Palacios.
	84. On information and belief, Defendants encouraged, developed, pursued, or permitted policies, practices, and customs, either formal or informal, which caused and permitted police officers to use unreasonable and unnecessary force in apprehending su...
	85. Upon information and belief, such conduct by Defendants permitted, encouraged, and caused the Defendant Officers to act as described above with knowledge, understanding, or belief that their conduct would not cause them to be reprimanded, discipli...
	86. Upon information and belief, Defendants have knowingly and intentionally failed to adequately hire, train, educate, monitor, and/or supervise, or has been deliberately indifferent, reckless, or grossly negligent in hiring, training, educating, mon...
	87. The above-described misconduct by Defendants caused Mr. Palacios to be subjected to violations of clearly established constitutional rights under the Fourth and/or Fourteenth Amendment(s) to the United States Constitution, and has encouraged other...
	88. The above-described misconduct of Chief Brown and/or Defendant Salt Lake City, directly and proximately caused Mr. Palacios’ death.
	89. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from and against Defendants all damages sustained by Plaintiff and Mr. Palacios as a direct and proximate result of Defendant Brown’s and/or Defendant Salt Lake City’s violation of M...
	90. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
	91. For the reasons set forth above, Defendants have also violated Mr. Palacios’ rights to be free from excessive force and unreasonable searches and seizures as those rights are guaranteed by Article I, Sections 4 and 14 of the Utah Constitution.
	92. Defendant Officers’ initial use of force and continued use of force after Mr. Palacios had been shot to the ground (as set forth in the First and Second Causes of Action) violated his established rights under the Utah Constitution and directly and...
	93. Defendant Brown and Defendant Salt Lake City actions, omissions and ratifications (as set forth in the Third Cause of Action) violated his established rights under the Utah Constitution and directly and proximately caused Mr. Palacios’ death.
	94. Plaintiff is entitled to recover from and against Defendants all damages sustained by Plaintiff and Mr. Palacios as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of Mr. Palacios’ rights under the Utah Constitution, including, without lim...
	95. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
	96. For the reasons set forth above, Defendants have also violated Mr. Palacios’ rights to be free from unnecessary rigor as that right is guaranteed by Article I, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution.
	97. Defendants actions of shooting Mr. Palacios after he was effectively imprisoned and violated Mr. Palacios’ constitutional rights and subjected him to needlessly harsh, degrading, and dehumanizing treatment at the hands of the Defendant Officders.
	98. Defendants knowingly and intentionally violated Mr. Palacios’s constitutional rights by subjecting him to unjustified shootings and leaving him on the ground for over 7 hours without a shirt and other items of clothing.
	99. At all times, the Defendant Officers acted under color of their authority as police officers of the SLCPD when they deprived Mr. Palacios of his rights to be free from unnecessary rigor under Article I section 9 of the Utah Constitution.
	100. As a result of Defendants’ violations of Mr. Palacios’ rights under Utah’s Constitution, Mr. Palacios and his family sustained physical, mental and emotional injuries.
	1. For economic damages in an amount to be determined at trial;
	2. For non-economic damages in an amount to be determined at trial;
	3. For consequential and other compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial;
	4. For punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial;
	5. For an award of attorney’s fees and costs incurred herein pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. § 1988, or as otherwise provided by law; and
	6. For such other and further relief as the Court deems proper, including, without limitation, pre- and post-judgment interest.


